FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/29/2019 12:21 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97127-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 76425-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THYCE W. COLYN and AMY J. COLYN, individually and as husband and wife,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

STANDARD PARKING CORPORATION, a foreign corporation; TAYLOR WARN,

Defendants-Appellants.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marilee C. Erickson, WSBA No. 16144 REED McCLURE 1215 Fourth Ave, Suite 1700 Seattle, Washington 98161-1087 Telephone: (206) 292-4900

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER		
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION		
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1		
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	The evidence pertaining to negligence and contributory fault.	
	B.	The record regarding the misconduct of Plaintiffs' counsel	
	C.	Summary of proceedings in the trial court and the Court of Appeals.	
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED9		
	A.	The Decision of the Court of Appeals affirming a directed verdict on the issue of breach of duty, against a "disfavored" driver defendant in a street-crossing collision case, conflicts with this Court's decision in <i>Fetterman v. Levitch</i> , 7 Wn.2d 431, 109 P.2d 1064 (1941), and the general rule that whether such a driver breaches the duty they owe when crossing a street depends on the individual facts and circumstances and thus is for the jury to determine	
	В.	The Decision of the Court of Appeals affirming a directed verdict in favor of a "favored" bicyclist plaintiff on the issue of contributory fault, when the bicyclist admitted he was not looking ahead just before the accident, based on a supposed failure by the defendant to prove the "point of notice," frustrates the purpose of the point-of-notice rule	

		Page
C.	The Decision of the Court of Appeals to affirm a trial court's denial of a motion for new trial due to misconduct of counsel, when the record showed that the trial court did not recognize the extent of the misconduct unfolding during the course of the trial, and the trial court offered no rationale for its decision to deny a motion for new trial, frustrates the purpose of the case-law rule calling for deference to a trial court's	
	new-trial determinations.	14
D.	The Decision of the Court of Appeals to resolve a central basis for appellate relief by <i>sua sponte</i> ruling that the basis had not been preserved, when the opposing party made no claim of failure to preserve in its brief, the Court of Appeals did not raise the issue until its decision terminating review, <i>and</i> post-decision review of the record establishes that the basis for relief had been preserved, conflicts with the basic requirements of our adversarial system of justice	

VI.

INDEX TO APPENDICES

Appendix A: Court of Appeals' Decision, filed on

January 22, 2019

Appendix B: Order Denying Motion for

Reconsideration, filed on March 29, 2019

Appendix C: Extracts from Defendants' Trial Brief (CP

1175, 1182-83)

Appendix D: Extracts from VRP of argument in

opposition to Plaintiffs' motion for directed

verdict (RP 1860, 1875, 1878)

Appendix E: Illustrative map of accident site used during

oral argument before Court of Appeals, modified to show respective paths of

vehicles

Appendix F: Screenshot from police camcorder

recording admitted into evidence as Trial Exhibit 208, page 9, looking back down Eighth Avenue from immediately north of accident site, used as illustrative exhibit

during oral argument

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases Page(s)				
Barr v. Day, 124 Wn.2d 318, 897 P.2d 912 (1994)20				
Huber v. Hemrich Brewing Co., 188 Wash. 235, 62 P.2d 451 (1936)				
Lindberg v. Steele, 5 Wn.2d 54, 104 P.2d 940 (1940)				
Maxwell v. Piper, 92 Wn. App. 471, 963 P.2d 941 (1998)				
Olsen v. Peerless Laundry, 111 Wash. 660, 191 P. 756 (1920)				
Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 274 P.3d 336 (2012)				
State v. Depaz, 165 Wn.2d 842, 204 P.3d 217 (2009)				
State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d 798, 425 P.3d 807 (2018)				
Fetterman v. Levitch, 7 Wn.2d 431, 109 P.2d 1064 (1941)				
Other State Cases				
Blumberg Assocs. Worldwide, Inc. v. Brown & Brown of Conn., 311 Conn. 123, 84 A.3d 840 (2014)				
Federal Cases				
Greenlaw v. United States, 554 U.S. 237, 128 S. Ct. 2559, 171 L. Ed. 2d 399 (2008)				
Loher v. Thomas, 825 F.3d 1103 (9th Cir. 2016)				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES - iv

Page(s) Statutes and Court Rules RAP 2.3(b)(1) 2, 12 RAP 2.3(b)(4) 2, 12, 14, 17 RAP 12.1(b) 3 RAP 13.4(b)(4) 3, 20 Other Authorities Washington Pattern Jury Instruction 70.02.04 11, 19

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Defendants and Appellants Standard Parking Corporation and Taylor Warn (collectively, "Defendants") seek review of the decision designated in Section II of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Defendants seek review of the unpublished decision terminating review issued by Division One of the Court of Appeals on January 22, 2019. A copy of the decision ("Decision") is attached as Appendix A. A timely motion for reconsideration was denied by a summary order entered on March 29, 2019. A copy of that order is attached as Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This motor vehicle-bicycle accident case presents three issues warranting review by this Court:

1. The nature of the duties owed by disfavored and favored drivers, and their interplay with the concept of the "point of notice." The Court of Appeals modified two key concepts that govern motorists and determine liability for an accident: (1) the duties owed by so-called "disfavored" and "favored" drivers, and (2) the interplay between those duties and the case-law concept of the "point of notice."

First, the Court of Appeals affirmed the determination that a disfavored driver was negligent as a matter of law because he did not recheck to his right before completing his cross of a street, which he began only after checking and confirming the absence of oncoming "favored" traffic. This holding conflicts with this Court's decision in *Fetterman v*.

Levitch, 7 Wn.2d 431, 436-40, 109 P.2d 1064 (1941), and the well-established case-law rule that whether a disfavored driver crossing a street breaches their duty of care to oncoming favored traffic depends on the individual facts and circumstances. This matter warrants review under RAP 2.3(b)(1) and RAP 2.3(b)(4).

Second, in affirming the grant of a directed verdict in favor of the plaintiff bicyclist on the issue of his contributory fault, Division One relieved the so-called favored driver of complying with the basic duty of paying attention to what was transpiring up ahead, by applying the case-law rule of the "point of notice" in a fashion that frustrates the purpose of that rule. This matter warrants review under RAP 2.3(b)(4).

2. The obligation of a trial court to deal with misconduct of counsel based on a full and accurate apprehension of the events unfolding during trial. Counsel misconduct can deprive an opposing party of a fair trial. Of particular concern in a jury trial is systematic improper questioning of witnesses, which forces the opposing counsel to choose between letting the questions stand or alienating the jury by repeated, albeit proper objections. When, as here, the trial court, although warning the offending counsel to cease their misconduct, fails to track accurately the nature and scope of the problem unfolding before it, and later denies a new trial without offering any rationale for that denial, the court has abused its discretionary authority. The failure of the Court of Appeals to recognize that failure, and its decision instead to continue to defer to the trial court's

discretionary authority, is a matter of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

resolving an appeal on a ground not raised in the briefing. In our adversarial system of justice, a court, including an appellate court, should resolve a case on a ground not raised by the parties only after giving them a fair opportunity to address that ground. RAP 12.1(b) provides that an appellate court may direct the parties to address an issue not raised in the briefs. Here, (1) Plaintiffs did not contend that Defendants had failed to preserve their principal legal basis for appellate relief from a directed verdict on both liability and contributory fault, (2) no member of the Panel on the Merits suggested at oral argument that the theory had not been preserved, and (3) the Court of Appeals did not request briefing on preservation of error. Yet in its decision terminating review, the court ruled that the issued was not preserved. In fact, the issue had been raised in both the trial brief and in opposition to the motion for directed verdict.

The decision by a Court of Appeals to reject considering a ground for appellate relief, based on a *sua sponte* rationale of failure to preserve, when in fact the ground was preserved, without first giving the parties an opportunity to address the issue by briefing it, conflicts with the basic tenets of our adversarial system of justice. This is a matter of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The evidence pertaining to negligence and contributory fault.

A bicycle collided with a car on a clear October afternoon on Eighth Avenue near Pine Street in Downtown Seattle. CP 3; RP 217. Eighth Avenue is one way northbound with two lanes. RP 223, 1071. The right-hand lane was painted with shared-lane markings (or "sharrows"), indicating that it was for shared use by vehicles and bicycles. RP 1284; Ex. 208 at 9. Just before the block where the collision occurred, Eighth Avenue passes underneath the Washington State Convention Center and then intersects with Pine Street. RP 1141. *See* Illustrative Map (Appx. E).

The collision occurred while Taylor Warn, a valet driver employed by Standard Parking, was taking a Toyota sedan from the parking garage at the Olive 8 Hyatt to a waiting customer at the nearby Grand Hyatt. CP 3; RP 1140. Warn began his trip by driving the vehicle out of the parking garage and directly across Eighth Avenue from west to east, heading into a surface-parking lot across the street. RP 1140; Ex. 25. He regularly used this route because it allowed him to access an alleyway from which he could enter westbound traffic on Pine, reducing the time required to return a vehicle to a customer waiting at the hotel.

Warn testified that he stopped three times as he made his way across Eighth Avenue. He first stopped just inside the parking-garage, before exiting. RP 1141-42. After waiting for some pedestrians to pass on the sidewalk, he removed his foot from the brake pedal and, without depressing the accelerator pedal, allowed the momentum from the vehicle's

transmission to move the car forward across the sidewalk and up to the edge of the roadway. RP 1142. Warn stopped a second time before entering the roadway, to assess "the flow of traffic." RP 1142. Looking to his right—the direction of oncoming traffic approaching northbound from the Pine Street intersection—Warn saw two vehicles approaching and observed the pedestrian signal at the intersection counting down, meaning that the vehicle signal would soon turn red. RP 1142-43.

After waiting for the two vehicles to pass and observing no more traffic approaching on either of the street's two travel lanes, Warn again removed his foot from the brake pedal, allowing the vehicle to roll forward slowly into the roadway. RP 1141-44. Warn had driven partway across Eighth Avenue when he noticed a group of pedestrians on the opposite sidewalk, about to cross the driveway he intended to enter. RP 1144. Warn stopped the vehicle in the middle of the street for two to three seconds—his third stop—to allow the pedestrians to pass. RP 1144, 1146.

After the pedestrians had passed, and as Warn started to take his foot off the brake so he could then resume moving forward and complete his cross of Eighth Avenue, he heard something hit the car from the right:

And then possibly two, maybe three seconds at most go by as I'm waiting there letting the pedestrians finish up their scurrying across, and at that moment is when I took my foot off the brake to allow my—the vehicle to continue moving towards my desired destination of that parking lot. And *as I'm taking my foot off the brake* is when I heard a loud bang sound. ...

RP 1144-45 (emphasis added). Warn saw a "flash of a figure coming across the hood," quickly realized it was a bicyclist, and got out of the vehicle to

assess the situation. RP 1145-46. There was no evidence that Warn looked to the right a second time after entering the roadway; he told the investigating officer that, just before the collision, something had caught his attention and he was looking to the left. RP 221, 260-61.

The bicyclist was Plaintiff Thyce Colyn. As shown by the police-dashcam footage looking back toward the Pine Street intersection, a sedan stopped perpendicular across the roadway would have been visible to Colyn from as far back as the intersection. Ex. 208 at 9 (Appx. F). Yet he did not see the vehicle driven by Warn until the instant before the collision—too late to avoid it—apparently because something had caught his eye to the left. RP 1298. Had Colyn seen the sedan from the intersection, he would have had ample time to stop. He agreed 20 miles per hour was a reasonable estimate of his speed, and the collision occurred about 155 feet past the intersection. *See* RP 1306, 1310, 1865. Given a standard perception-reaction time of 2.5

¹ Colyn did not testify regarding liability issues; his deposition testimony was related by Hunter, without objection. *See* RP 1298. In the Court of Appeals, Plaintiffs interpreted Colyn's testimony (related by Hunter) as meaning that the vehicle driven by Warn was what caught his eye. But this interpretation of Colyn's testimony assumes he noticed the vehicle as he was passing in front of it, and that it moved towards him—an interpretation the jury was entitled to reject given the other evidence showing Colyn struck Warn's vehicle just before it could resume moving forward. Moreover, Plaintiffs' interpretation concedes that Colyn failed to see what was there to be seen.

² The Court of Appeals' notion that the 155-foot distance was posed by Plaintiffs' counsel as a hypothetical is both wrong and beside the point. *See* Decision at 19-20. Although that distance was used in a hypothetical, the distance itself was stated as fact, and more than once, by Plaintiffs' counsel. *See* RP 1310, 1865. Moreover, other sources can confirm the 155-foot distance, including the "Measure Distance" feature in Google Maps. *See* https://support.google.com/maps/answer/1628031 (last visited April 16, 2019). It can also be estimated from the police-dashcam screenshot or aerial photograph, which were in evidence. Ex. 25; Ex. 208 at 9 (Appx. F).

seconds, Colyn needed 92.33 feet to perceive and react to the Toyota and stop—well within 155 feet.³ *See* RP 1296, 1306, 1308, 1310.

The physical evidence was consistent with the bicycle having hit the car, rather than the car hitting the bicycle: the bicycle's front wheel was deformed, and the sedan's front corner and hood were damaged on the passenger side. RP 1093, 1145, 1150, 1291-92; Ex. 208 at 1-3, 11. The accident reconstructionist, John Hunter, testified that the "leading edge" of the bike—the front wheel—hit the car's right front corner. RP 1291-92.

B. The record regarding the misconduct of Plaintiffs' counsel.

Plaintiffs' counsel engaged in misconduct throughout the trial. Lead counsel began by vouching for his clients' case in opening statement, stating that counsel had investigated and found it was a "righteous case" to move forward with. RP 164-65. Counsel then proceeded to ask hundreds of objectionable questions of all kinds during witness examination. *See Appellants' Opening Brief*, Appx. B. Defendants moved for a mistrial after Plaintiffs' counsel, while cross-examining Hunter, implied Warn was lying and accused Hunter of having been "barred for lying to a court" in another case, when in fact that court had merely found that his testimony lacked a credible foundation. RP 1312-13, 1334-36; CP 1578-80.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 7

³ Traveling at 20 miles per hour, the bicycle is moving at 29.33 feet per second (this is calculated by simple math: divide the speed in miles per hour by 60 minutes to obtain miles per minute; multiply this by the number of feet in one mile (5,280) to convert to feet per minute; divide the result by 60 for feet per second). A bicycle traveling at 20 miles per hour needs 19 feet to stop. RP 1296. With 2.5 seconds needed to perceive and react, Colyn needed a total of 92.33 feet. Even assuming Colyn was traveling as fast as a *car* driving at the speed limit (30 miles per hour), he needed 153 feet to perceive and react to the Toyota—still within the available 155 feet. RP 1309-10.

By the time of this motion, defense counsel had objected 186 times, and the court had sustained 130 of those objections (70%). *See Appellants' Opening Brief*, Appx. B. Yet in denying Defendants' motion, the court lamented that its hands were tied because the defense was supposedly not objecting and needed to "begin objecting":

In general, Mr. Beninger, you have a number of times made comments about the credibility of witnesses and used the word "lies" in such a way that you are inappropriately commenting on the credibility of witnesses and vouching, and I want that to stop.

There are so many times in this case where there have been inappropriate questions and characterizations and testimony from you, but I'm not getting objections from the defense. So my hands are tied.

I would encourage you, Ms. Hunter and Mr. Skinner, to *begin objecting* to those things because there have been so many objectionable questions in this case, and there has been so much testimony by Mr. Beninger. Feel free to object.

RP 1336 (emphasis added). Notwithstanding the court's rebuke, defense counsel were forced to continue objecting, and were sustained an additional 67 times. *See Appellant's Opening Brief*, Appx. B. The court would ultimately sustain 202 (nearly two thirds) of Defendants' 324 total objections. *See id*.

C. Summary of proceedings in the trial court and the Court of Appeals.

At the close of the evidence, the trial court granted judgment as a matter of law to Plaintiffs on negligence and contributory fault. RP 1905. The jury returned a total verdict of over \$38 million. CP 1708-09. The trial court summarily denied Defendants' motion for a new trial or remittitur,

providing no rationale. CP 2377-78. The Court of Appeals affirmed and denied Defendants' motion for reconsideration.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals affirming a directed verdict on the issue of breach of duty, against a "disfavored" driver defendant in a street-crossing collision case, conflicts with this Court's decision in *Fetterman v. Levitch*, 7 Wn.2d 431, 109 P.2d 1064 (1941), and the general rule that whether such a driver breaches the duty they owe when crossing a street depends on the individual facts and circumstances and thus is for the jury to determine.

The Court of Appeals upheld the directed verdict against the disfavored driver, Warn, on the ground that Warn breached a duty he had as a matter of law to re-check to the right before resuming his cross:

[T]he uncontroverted evidence established Warn breached the duty to yield by not looking in the direction of the oncoming traffic when he removed his foot from the brake and the automatic transmission moved the car forward. The undisputed evidence established Warn was looking left at the time of the collision and did not yield the right-of-way to Thyce, the favored driver. The [trial] court did not err by concluding as a matter of law that Warn breached the duty to yield the right-of-way.

Decision at 14-15.

That holding conflicts with this Court's decision in *Fetterman v. Levitch*, 7 Wn.2d 431, 109 P.2d 1064 (1941). In an opinion authored by Justice Steinert, this Court upheld a jury verdict in favor of a plaintiff whose disfavored vehicle was in the same position as Warn's when it was struck broadside by an approaching (favored) vehicle. Like Warn, the disfavored driver in *Fetterman* had checked to the right before beginning his cross of an intersection but then had to stop while still in the street, to allow

pedestrians who appeared in front to get out of his way. This Court held that whether the driver had to re-check before resuming his cross was a question of fact for the jury to resolve:

In the performance of the duty resting upon him, it is obviously essential that the disfavored driver look to his right from a point *at which he can see and reasonably decide* whether he can proceed across the intersection with a fair margin of safety. The maximum distance from the curb line at which the required observation may be made necessarily depends on the surrounding conditions and circumstances. ...

Whether or not the disfavored driver has performed the duty incumbent upon him is ordinarily a question for the jury, and cannot be decided by the court as a question of law, unless the circumstances are such that it can be said that reasonable minds could not arrive at different conclusions thereon.

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