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

argument that misconduct of counsel 
mandated a new trial.  Division One affirmed. 

Thyce and his wife Amy Colyn’s lawsuit alleged that 

Standard Parking was vicariously liable for Warn’s negligence and 

directly liable for allowing valets to use the dangerous route Warn 

was taking when he collided with Thyce.  (CP 4-5)  King County 

Superior Court Judge Mary Roberts (“the trial court”) granted the 

Colyns’ CR 50 motion, finding defendants liable as a matter of law and 

rejecting their defense that Thyce was contributorily negligent because 

there was “no evidence to support a determination that Mr. Colyn 

failed to exercise ordinary care.”  (RP 1905)  Because Warn was acting 

in the course of employment, the trial court did not submit the issue of 

Standard Parking’s direct negligence to the jury.  (See Op. 20, n. 6)   

The jury awarded $7,259,238 for Thyce’s past and future 

economic damages, $4 million for his past noneconomic damages, 

$16 million for his future noneconomic damages, and $11 million 

for Amy’s past and future loss of consortium.  (CP 1708-09)  The 

trial court denied defendants’ post-trial motion for judgment as a 

matter of law, as well as their motion for a new trial, rejecting their 

argument that the verdict was the result of passion and prejudice or 
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the claimed misconduct of the Colyns’ counsel.  (CP 2377-78, 1725-

26) The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion.  

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied. 

1. The courts below followed settled law in 
holding Warn negligent as a matter of law in 
advancing across Thyce’s lane of travel 
without looking for oncoming traffic.

Washington law has always required a driver exiting a 

driveway to “stop, observe all traffic upon the arterial and yield the 

right of way to all traffic moving in either direction,” as the Court of 

Appeals properly held.  (Op. 10, quoting Petersavage v. Bock, 72 

Wn.2d 1, 5, 431 P.2d 603 (1967) and citing RCW 46.61.365)  Because 

Warn conceded he failed to look to his right, “uncontroverted 

evidence established Warn breached the duty to yield by not looking 

in the direction of the oncoming traffic” before colliding with Thyce 

and causing the Colyns’ life-altering injuries.  (Op. 14)  None of the 

intersection collision cases cited by petitioners involve a mid-block 

shortcut across an active arterial, as Warn attempted here.  The 

Court of Appeals followed settled precedent and its decision presents 

no issue of substantial public interest. 

Though Warn offered three different versions of the collision 

(Resp. Br. 15-16) on this critical point he was consistent: Warn did 

not look right toward oncoming traffic before advancing mid-block 
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across the far lane of Eighth Avenue, where he collided with Thyce.  

(Op. 12-14)  Warn told the investigating police officer that he 

stopped once to let a northbound car pass on the inside lane.  Then, 

crossing Eighth Avenue, “he had looked left because there was 

something that had caught his eye.  And then the next thing he 

knew the collision happened with Mr. Thyce, the bicyclist.”  (RP 

221)  Warn similarly told his Standard Parking supervisor that 

“there was no traffic coming, and that he recalled there was a red 

light for northbound traffic on Eighth Avenue,” and so he 

proceeded across the street “when he saw it was safe.”  (RP 1086)   

At trial, five years later, Warn added additional details,  

claiming that he stopped once to let pedestrians pass on the sidewalk, 

stopped a second time before entering the street to let “two vehicles 

travelling northbound” pass (RP 1142), and then stopped yet a third 

time before crossing Eighth Avenue, for “two, maybe three seconds” to 

let another group of pedestrians pass from his left, “heading south-

bound” on the east side of Eighth Avenue, before advancing toward 

the parking lot without again looking toward oncoming traffic.  (RP 

1144)  Warn’s undisputed testimony that he crossed into Thyce’s lane 

without looking to his right fully supports this Court’s decision and the 

trial court’s determination that Warn was negligent as a matter of law. 
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In arguing a substantial public interest1 in exonerating 

petitioners from the consequences of Warn’s hazardous shortcut 

maneuver, petitioners fail to even cite RCW 46.61.365, the statutory 

requirement that a driver exiting a driveway must stop, look for 

oncoming traffic and yield the right of way.  No authority supports 

petitioners’ contention that a jury could find that Warn acted 

reasonably when, after stopping mid-block on Eighth Avenue, he 

advanced directly into the far lane of traffic while looking away 

from, rather than toward, oncoming vehicles.   

Petitioners’ intersection collision cases, in which a jury could 

find the disfavored driver acted reasonably in advancing into an 

intersection after checking and observing oncoming traffic, are 

inapposite.  Warn was not in an intersection, but mid-block; he did 

not look in the direction of oncoming traffic before advancing into 

Thyce’s lane of travel.  Warn never saw Thyce’s approaching 

bicycle.  The Court of Appeals thus properly relied on the 

undisputed fact that Warn “did not see the man on the bicycle 

because he was looking to the left instead of the right.”  (Op. 14)  

These critical facts distinguish Fetterman v. Levitch, 7 Wn.2d 431, 

1 Petitioners cite almost exclusively to RAP 2.3(b)(4) (Pet. 2, 12, 14, 17), 
which governs discretionary review of interlocutory rulings in the trial 
court, not discretionary review of issues of “substantial public interest”  
raised by a Court of Appeals decision terminating review.  RAP 13.4(b)(4). 
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109 P.2d 1064 (1941) (Pet. 1, 9-11, 17), the case petitioners now 

allege is “controlling” (Pet. 11), but which they first cited as 

additional authority, long after the briefing was closed, a week 

before oral argument in Division One.   

In Fetterman, the disfavored driver entered an uncontrolled 

intersection well before the favored driver’s car, which was “plainly 

visible” to his right, 260 feet away from the intersection and 

travelling 25 miles per hour.  7 Wn.2d at 433.  The disfavored driver 

slowed to stop in the intersection because a group of small children 

stepped off the curb to cross.  While waiting for the children to clear 

the intersection, he was struck from his right by the favored driver, 

who saw the stopped car but did not slow to avoid the collision.  The 

Court held that whether the disfavored driver “acted reasonably in 

relying upon an unobstructed observation made twenty-five or 

thirty feet from the intersection was, at least under all the 

accompanying circumstances a question upon which reasonable 

minds might differ.”  Fetterman, 7 Wn.2d at 440 (emphasis added).  

The Supreme Court distinguished cases where the disfavored driver 

“contested the right of way” or “did not see an oncoming vehicle 

which was plainly within his view.”  Fetterman, 7 Wn.2d at 440.   

But there was no intersection here, where Warn took a short 

cut from a driveway crossed one of two lanes and came to a 
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complete stop before entering Colyn’s lane of travel.  Moreover, the 

key question in intersection collision cases like Fetterman is not 

whether the disfavored driver “merely looked, but whether or not, 

under the existing conditions and circumstances, he looked from a 

point or position from which he should have finally looked.”  

Hauswirth v. Pom-Arleau, 11 Wn.2d 354, 372, 119 P.2d 674 (1941) 

(emphasis added).  Thus, a driver who “undertook to start his car 

from a dead stop and proceed across [a] highway, without looking” 

to the right, and without seeing oncoming traffic (as Warn also did 

here) was negligent as a matter of law in Delsman v. Bertotti, 200 

Wash. 380, 386, 93 P.2d 371 (1939).  So too was a left-turning 

driver on a four-lane street who, after stopping in the inside lane to 

let traffic clear, started her turn with “no observation of the 

roadway” on which an oncoming driver approached in the far lane.  

Harvey v. Unger, 13 Wn. App. 44, 47, 533 P.2d 403 (1975) 

(distinguishing Fetterman). 

Petitioner’s reliance on Fetterman’s holding that the jury in 

that case could decide that the disfavored driver acted reasonably in 

failing to look again after observing the only oncoming vehicle over 

200 feet away ignores that each case turns on the particular facts 

and “accompanying circumstances,” including whether the 

disfavored driver was “deceived” by the speed or actions of the 
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favored driver.  See Plenderlieth v. McGuire, 27 Wn.2d 841, 845-54, 

180 P.2d 808 (1947) (discussing intersection collision cases); see 

also Lanegan v. Crauford, 49 Wn.2d 562, 565-66, 304 P.2d 953 

(1956) (duty of favored driver to make sure left-turning traffic 

clears intersection after light turns green).  Unlike in Fetterman,

Warn was not deceived; he never saw Thyce’s bicycle because he 

failed to look again to his right toward oncoming traffic.  

Warn had a duty to do more than “merely look” for 

oncoming traffic when he initially pulled out of the Olive 8; he had 

to “finally look” again before advancing from a stop into Thyce’s 

lane of travel on Eighth Avenue.  Hauswirth, 11 Wn.2d at 372.  The 

Court of Appeals correctly held that the jury had no basis to find 

Warn acted reasonably because it was undisputed that he “breached 

the duty to yield by not looking in the direction of the oncoming 

traffic when he removed his foot from the brake and automatic 

transmission moved the car forward.”  (Op. 14) 

2. The Court of Appeals properly held that the 
defense of comparative fault required 
evidence that Thyce could have avoided the 
collision in the exercise of reasonable care. 

The Court of Appeals also correctly held that a mere allegation 

of comparative fault could not get the issue to a jury in the absence of 

some evidence that Thyce acted unreasonably or could have, in the 
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exercise of due care, avoided the collision.  Established law (and 

petitioners’ own expert, RP 1305-06) support the lower courts’ holding 

that Thyce, as the favored party with the right of way, had the right to 

assume that Warn would yield and not advance into his lane of travel.  

No reasonable juror could find comparative fault absent evidence that 

Thyce had notice that Warn, who had stopped to yield to pedestrians, 

would not continue to yield to other oncoming traffic in the far lane – 

be they cars, cyclists, or pedestrians.    

Washington courts uniformly hold that the favored driver has 

the right to assume that a disfavored driver will respect the right of 

way until a reasonable person would conclude that he or she will not 

yield.  (Op. 15-17, discussing Petersavage, 72 Wn.2d at 4-5; Bowers 

v. Marzano, 170 Wn. App. 498, 506, 290 P.3d 134 (2012); Channel v. 

Mills, 77 Wn. App, 268, 279, 890 P.2d 535 (1995); Whitchurch v. 

McBride, 63 Wn. App. 272, 276, 818 P.2d 622 (1991), rev. denied, 

118 Wn.2d 1029 (1992)).2  Even then, the favored driver is entitled to 

2 The purpose of this rule is not just to further the free flow of traffic, but 
to prevent rear-end collisions that would inevitably occur were cars 
required to come to a halt in the middle of a busy street in anticipation of 
a disfavored driver ignoring the right of way: 

To rule differently, would, we fear, make shambles of the 
right-of-way rule . . . . , defeat[ing] the very idea of arterial 
highways and the right of way at uncontrolled intersections, 
both of which are designed to allow a continuous flow of 
traffic at safe speeds.  

Petersavage, 72 Wn.2d at 6. 
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a reasonable amount of time to perceive, decide and react to avoid 

impact before there can be any contributory fault.  Whitchurch, 63 

Wn. App. at 276-77.  To defeat judgment as a matter of law, 

petitioners were required to come forward with evidence that would 

have allowed the jury to find the point at which Thyce reasonably 

should have noticed that Warn was not going to yield the right of way 

and that Thyce had sufficient time to react and avoid a collision once 

Warn advanced from a stop into Thyce’s lane of travel.  (Op. 16-17)  

Petitioners do not argue that the Court of Appeals unpublished 

decision conflicts with any cases of this Court or the intermediate 

courts.  RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).  Petitioners instead allege an “issue of 

substantial public interest” by positing a series of imaginary “facts,” 

unsupported by the record and never developed in the trial court.  

Petitioners concede that their accident reconstructionist could not 

identify the point at which Thyce reasonably could have known that 

Warn was not going to yield.  (Pet. 12-13)  To the contrary, as the Court 

of Appeals recognized, the defense expert testified Thyce would not 

have had “sufficient ‘perception-reaction time’ to brake” and avoid the 

collision.  (Op. 19)  They offered no other evidence of the required 

points of notice or impact, relying instead on pure speculation. 

Petitioners now cite the police dashcam video (Pet. 13), which 

was taken after the collision occurred, and shows neither the location 
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of Thyce’s bicycle nor of Warn’s car when he accelerated from a stop 

into Thyce’s lane of travel.  (Ex. 208)  They also rely on a purported 

“admission” by the Colyns’ counsel (Pet. 6, 13), which, as the Court of 

Appeals held, was not “evidence” at all, but a “hypothetical that 

Colyn’s counsel posed during argument,” that there was no evidence 

that Thyce had a “reasonable reaction time” to avoid Warn’s car.  

(Op. 19-20; RP 1864)  And, ignoring RAP 9.11’s limitations on new 

evidence on appeal, petitioners now cite additional “other sources,” 

including the “Measure Distance” feature in “Google Maps” (Pet. 6 

n.2), to establish as “fact” evidence never presented below, contrary 

to Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 

89, 98, ¶ 17, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) (on appeal, “RAP 9.11 applies in 

addition to the normal judicial notice standard.”).   

The Court of Appeals properly reviewed the evidence before 

the jury, not the “facts” conjured by petitioners for purposes of 

appeal.  As petitioners’ trial counsel admitted, “we don’t know exactly 

where” Thyce was when Warn’s car began its advance into Thyce’s 

lane of travel.  (Op. 8, quoting RP 1876)  No one (not even 

petitioners’ expert), “did the math,” let alone suggested to the trial 

court that the jury perform the calculations petitioners first offered 

on appeal to speculate that Thyce had time to take evasive action.    
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No one testified that Thyce failed to look ahead as he biked 

within the speed limit in a lane marked for bike traffic.  The jury 

heard only Warn’s testimony that the impact occurred “in the middle 

of the road” (RP 1146), “at that moment . . . when I took my foot off 

the brake to allow my – the vehicle to continue moving toward my 

desired destination of that parking lot.”  (RP 1144) The Court of 

Appeals unpublished decision affirming the trial court’s judgment as 

a matter of law (Op. 7; RP 1875-76) comports with settled law and 

presents no issue of substantial public interest.   

3. Petitioners’ preservation arguments would 
present no issue for this Court’s review even 
had the Court of Appeals not rejected their 
new argument on the merits.  

The Court of Appeals noted in a footnote that petitioners did 

not preserve their argument that Warn, not Thyce, had the right of 

way and was “entitled to deference from other vehicles until he 

cleared the road” (Op. 15, n.3), but held in any event “the 

uncontroverted evidence established Warn breached the duty to yield 

by not looking in the direction of the oncoming traffic when he 

removed his foot from the brake . . .”  (Op. 14)  Petitioners’ hyperbole 

that the Court of Appeals’ footnote presents a “departure from the 

bedrock principles of our adversarial system of appellate justice 
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[and] is a matter of substantial public interest” (Pet. 20), is wholly 

without merit, and unfairly maligns both the courts below. 

In the first place, the Court of Appeals was correct.  Neither 

petitioners’ current protestations nor their citation in the trial court 

to a WPI stating that the duty to yield is “not absolute” (Pet. 11, 19), 

changes the fact that they first argued that Warn “was entitled to 

assume that an approaching . . . . bicyclist would follow the rules of 

the road” in response to the Colyns’ motion to strike Fetterman, 

which petitioners did not cite as additional authority until the eve of 

oral argument in Division One.  (Ans. Motion to Strike 4)  

Moreover, the Court of Appeals did not “go outside” the 

“issues framed by the parties” (Pet. 19) when it rejected petitioners’ 

argument on the merits, holding that Warn acted unreasonably as a 

matter of law by failing to look right before accelerating from a stop 

into Thyce’s lane of travel.  (Op. 14)  It certainly did not take a “self-

directing board of legal inquiry and research” (Pet. 20) to hold that a

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